SECOND  HAND  TECHNIQUE

Defensive Skills when Declarer has the Lead

Take each of the suits below and imagine that declarer can lead from either the South or North hand. Inevitably declarer will choose to lead from South, through West, towards North, choosing the queen, or a low card. In each case how should you, as West, defend and how many tricks can declarer then make?


♠ A J 4





♥ A J 4

♠ K 10 9


♠ 8 7 6 5

♥ K 3 2


♥ 10 9 8 7



♠ Q 3 2





♥ Q 6 5



♦ A 5 4





♣ A 5 4

♦ K 3 2


♦ 10 9 8 7

♣ K 3 2


♣ 9 8 7 6



♦ Q J 6





♣ Q J 10

The common theme in spades, hearts and diamonds is that if South leads the queen, you must cover with the king promoting a trick for the ten. You can see the point of covering in the spade suit because you have the ♠10, but it is equally true in the heart and diamond suits when East has the ten.
On the other hand if South leads a low card you should also play low, retaining your king to axe Souths queen. The purpose of an honour card is to kill opponents' honour cards.
In the club suit, covering the ♣Q with the ♣K gains nothing as South has the ♣J and ♣10, but it loses nothing either.
These examples help you understand two important guidelines:
(i) 'Second hand plays low' is often contrasted with 'third hand plays high'. The difference between second and third hand is that if you are the second hand your partner still has the opportunity to stake a claim to the trick, preventing the opposition from winning a cheap trick.
The main purpose of playing 'second hand low1 is to keep your honours to deal with honours in the hand sitting before you, but there is also a deceptive reason.



♠ 7  4  2

♠ Q 10  9  6  3


♠ A  8  5



♠  K  J

Suppose declarer leads the ♠2 from dummy. It might look harmless for East to grab the ♠A, after all dummy has no honour. However, declarer no longer has the losing option of trying his ♠J. If East play low declarer might misguess.
Sometimes you are left with a difficult guess. Defending a spade game after a particularly unenlightening auction you choose to lead a trump. Declarer wins the ♠A and immediately leads a low club through your ♣A towards dummy's ♣K J 2. Perhaps he has a singleton, and needs to sneak through his ♣K before you realise he has three other losers. On the other hand he could have a doubleton, with the fate of the contract depending on him guessing who has the queen or the ace. You don't know, but your best guess is to play low.

Of course your play will be entirely different if the same club play occurs later in the hand when you only need one more trick to defeat the contract.
Apart from saving declarer a guess if he has more than one line of play there are many combinations where playing second hand low gains a trick by force. Look at (a). If West leads the ♠A South makes 2 tricks Equally if declarer leads low from his hand and West hops up with the ♠A the effect is the same as though he had led the ♠A.
With (b) South plays in 3NT and leads a low spade from dummy. If East rises with the ♠A South will comfortably make four spade tricks, but if he has the courage to play low twice South cannot develop a third spade trick without losing two, Even if dummy had a third spade declarer would have to arrange three entries to dummy to pick up the suit. If he had them it might prevent him from finessing in another suit, or leave him without a guard in a side suit.

(a)

  ♠ Q 8 5



(b)
   ♠ 3 2

♠ A 9 6 3


♠ J 10 4

♠ 10 4

    
    ♠ A 9 8 7



  ♠ K 7 2




   ♠ K Q J 6 5

Most of the exceptions to the 'second hand low’ principle focus on situations when you urgently need to seize the lead. Perhaps, defending against a no trump contract, you need to take the lead in order to clear partner's suit so that when he takes his entry he has winners to cash. Alternatively something may need doing which only you can manage. In the next example West leads the ♠A followed by the ♠6, won by dummy's ♠J. Declarer then calls for the ♥8.
♠ J 8 3





North/South Game

♥ 8






South
West
North
East

♦ Q J 4 3





1♠
2♥
2♠
P

♣ Q 9 5 3 2





3♦
P
4♠
End



♠ 7 5 2

▒▒▒

♥ A 10

▒▒▒

♦ 10 9 5 2



♣ K 10 6 4

The defence urgently needs to lead a third trump, but West clearly has none left. You must rise with the ♥A and persevere with your last trump. This leaves declarer with only nine tricks as he has;

♠ K Q 10 9 4

♥ Q 9 4
♦ A K 7
♣ A 8

(ii) 'Cover an honour with an honour', the purpose being to promote a lesser card to winning status in your hand, or your partner's hand. There are many combinations where it proves fatal to cover an honour with an honour, eg.

(c)

♠ K J 3 2



(d)
  ♠ J 7 3 2 

 ♠ 7 5 4


♠ Q 6


♠ Q


♠ K 6 5 4



♠ A 10 9 8




   ♠ A 10 9 8   

(e)

♠ Q J 6 3



(f)
   ♠ A 6 4

♠ 7 4



♠ K 8 5 2

♠ K 8 5 2



♠ A 10 9




  ♠ Q led             

If North leads the ♠J in (c) East should play low without the tell-tale hesitation that would fatally reveal the position of the ♠Q. South obviously has the ♠10 or he would not be playing the suit that way, and he is trying to smoke out the ♠Q.  Don't cover a jack or ten with a queen if declarer might have a two way finesse

In (d) spades are trumps, bid by South and supported by North. If North leads the ♠J East, cannot gain by covering with the ♠K. He should reflect upon the purpose of covering an honour with an honour, namely to promote an intermediate card to winning staus either in his own hand or partner's hand. He has no intermediate card to promote, and his partner is marked by the bidding with at most a singleton. On the other hand if he covers and West's singleton is the ♠Q or   ♠A . . . . !
In (e) East has greater spade length than South, so provided he doesn't cover the ♠Q South is held to three spade tricks. Again there is an easy rule to guide him.
When an honour is led from a sequence of touching honours through your single honour, it is usually unwise to cover until the last card of the sequence is led.
West's dilemma in (f) is more difficult. If South has ♠ Q J 10 9 then covering the ♠Q with the ♠K will present South with an undeserved fourth spade trick. On the other hand it would be too horrible to contemplate South pulling a fast one with a holding like ♠Q 7 3, In practice West is fairly safe in not covering on the assumption that South also has the ♠J. After all, if you were declarer how would you play ♠Q 7 3 opposite ♠A 6 4 to provide two tricks? The worst that is likely to befall West is that South has ♠Q 10 9 and intends to take a double finesse. In that case the defenders will make the third spade trick rather than the second.

Quiz

(1)
 

♠ K 9 6 4 3


North/South Game

♥ A 6 4


South
West
North
East

♦ K Q J


1♠
P
2♦
P

♣ A K



2♠
P
4NT
P

♠ 8 7






5♥
P
6♠
End

♥ K 7 5

▒▒▒





♦ 7 5 4

▒▒▒

♣ Q J 10 8 4

South takes your ♣Q lead with dummy's ♣A, draws trumps in two rounds (he started with five) and cashes dummy's other top club and three diamond trick; ending in his hand. He then tries the ♥J. Do you cover?
(2)


♠ 5 2



Love all

♥ A 6 4 3


South
West
North
East

♦ K Q 6 5


1♠
P
2♦
P

♣ A J 9


2♠
P
3NT
P

♠ 10 6 4





4♠
End

♥ 7


▒▒▒

♦ A 9 4 2

▒▒▒

♣ 7 6 5 3 2

Your ♥7 lead is taken by dummy's ♥A, East spectacularly following with the ♥K. Declarer draws trumps in three rounds (East following twice) and leads a diamond towards dummy. How should you defend?
(3)

♠ Q 7





Love all

♥ A 6 2




South
West
North
East

♦ A K Q 4




3♠
P
5NT
P

♣ A K J 2




6♠
End



♠ A 6

▒▒▒

♥ 9 7 5 3

▒▒▒

♦ 8 5 3



♣ 10 7 4 3

West's ♥K lead is taken by dummy's ♥A and the ♠Q is led from dummy. Do you cover?
(4)

♠ K 9 2





Love all

♥ A K Q J 10 3




South
West
North
East

♦ A J








2♥
P

♣ K 7






2NT
P
3NT
End



♠ Q 10 4

▒▒▒

♥ 9 2

▒▒▒

♦ K 9 7 5 3



♣ A J 5

West leads the ♠5 to your ♠Q and your ♠10 continuation is covered by South's ♠J, West's ♠3 and overtaken by dummy's ♠K. Declarer now leads a low club. Your play?
(5)

♠ Q J 6





North South Game

♥ J 8 4





South
West
North
East

♦ A 8 6 3







1NT
P

♣ A 7 5





4♣
P
4♠
P



♠  K 5 3



6♥
End

▒▒▒

♥ Q 10 3

▒▒▒

♦ 7 5 4



4♣ is the Gerber convention


♣ K Q J 6




  West starts by leading the ♦K. Dummy takes his ♦A and calls for the ♥J. Do you cover?

  Later he re-enters dummy with the ♣A and leads the ♠Q. Do you cover this?
(6)

♠ J 7 4





Love all

♥ 10 5 3





South
West
North
East

♦ J 4 3 2





2NT
P
3NT
End

♣ A 8 4



♠ 10 9 6 5

▒▒▒

♥ J 7 4 2

▒▒▒

♦  A 8



♣ 6 3 2

West starts with the ♣K and ♣Q, ducked in dummy, and the ♣J is taken by dummy's ♣A. Dummy then leads the ♥10. Do you cover? 
Answers to quiz

1) To beat this contract you require partner to have the ♥Q. Presumably declarer has the ♥10 (otherwise his lead of the ♥J is bizarre) and if he also has the ♥9 the contract will be laydown. Therefore concentrate on beating the spade slam when declarer has a holding like ♥J 10 2. If you cover the ♥J with the ♥K South will take dummy's ♥A and successfully finesse his ♥10. If you keep your ♥K East's ♥Q will take the trick and you still have the ♥K to deal with declarer’s ♥10.
2) If you take your ♦A you can then count ten tricks for declarer by way of 6 spades, 2 diamonds and 2 aces. Play second hand low. Dummy's ♦K wins but declarer will now make only one diamond trick. South has:

     ♠  A K Q J 7 3
♥ 9 8 5 2
♦ 3
♣ Q 10

Note that many players fear playing 'second hand low’ in case they lose their ace. In this case you never make your ♦A, but the trick comes back with interest as East scores three hearts and the ♣K.

3) Firstly don’t imagine that if you take your ♠A there are any heart tricks to cash. If South had any losing hearts he would have taken discards immediately on dummy’s plentiful minor suit winners. Your decision must be based solely on the possibility of a second trump trick. It might seem that West could have ♠J x and covering the ♠Q will give him a guess on the second round, however with that holding he would surely have entered his hand with a heart ruff to lead up to the ♠Q, catering for West to have ♠A singleton. It is far more likely that West has a singleton ♠K, in which case grabbing your ♠A will be fatal. Declarer has:

♠ J 10 9 8 5 4 3 2
 ♥ 4

♦ J 7
 
♣ 9 5

4)    West has shown you that he started with a five-card spade suit headed by the ♠A, and he has ducked the ♠A in order to retain communications with your hand. You can beat this contract by taking your ♣A and playing your last spade.

5)   Don't cover the ♥J because there can be nothing to promote in West's hand, indeed, covering the ♥J will be fatal as South has all seven missing hearts and has no intention of running the ♥J. Provided you play low he will take his ♥A, leaving him with an inescapable trump loser. He never expected to avoid a trump
loser if the suit broke 3-0, unless you gave the game away by covering.
  You don't cover the ♠Q because it is not correct to cover touching honours until the last one is played. If you play low declarer will have a spade loser. If you cover the ♠Q declarer will take the ♠A, and take a finesse against your partner's ♠10. South's hand is:

♠ A 9 8 7

♥ A K 9 7 6 5 2

♦ 9

♣ 4

6) You should be wary of covering a ten with a jack if you have a four-card holding and declarer might have to decide between taking a finesse and playing for the drop. In this case covering is tantamount to surrendering as South has:

♠ A K 2

♥ A K Q 9

♦ K Q 5

♣ 9 7 5
  
